CARPENTER’S RUN AND CARPENTER’S WOODS:

A BRIEF HISTORY
By Adam E. Levine and Stephen A. Marino
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Introduction

eginning in the mid-1%9th century, the engi-
neers and surveyors who designed the streets,
bridges and other infrastructure of Philadel-
phia began systematically diverting more than a
hundred miles of streams into large sewer pipes to
provide drainage for the city’s expanding neighbor-
hoods. Because so many of the streams that once

ran through the city have been subsumed by this
underground sewer infrastructure, what becomes
remarkable in the modern landscape is any stream
that still runs on the surface.’ Each of these rem-
nants has a story of its survival, and a little stream in
West Mt. Airy that neighbors call Carpenter’s Run is
no exception.

! For a detailed look at the justifications for stream to sewer conversions and the consequences of this work, see the "Creek to

Sewer” pape ab <wwwphil

The history and legacy of
(Pittsburgh: University of Pittshurgh Press, 2012),

, the website of Adam Levine; also his article, “Sewers, pollution and public health in
nireebeenth century Philadelphia,” Peonsyloanis Legacies, 10 (May, 2010%:14-1%; and his forthcoming
| change in Philadelphia,” in Brian Black and Michacel Chiarappa, eds., Nature's Entrepof.
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Carpenter’s Run has its source in a patch of woodland
south of Greene Streel, between Morth and South Mt
Pleasant Roads (Figure 1). From there it winds its
way a little more than a mile to join Wissahickon
Creek just upstream of the Kitchen's Lane Bridge. It
survives today as a surface stream because its val-
ley was incorporated into Fairmount Park and thus
protected from development. This park extension,
known as Carpenter’s Woods, was instigated by the
City Parks Association (CPA), a local park and plan-
ning advocacy organization founded in 1888. Two
ordinances in 1912 and 1913 set aside the valley as
parkland, and the land was acquired over the next
seven years from a handful of property owners.
More than half of the land was given to the city for
a nominal fee, but later parcels were purchased at
market value, with the most expensive of these only
ending up as part of the park after a year-long battle
in City Hall and in the courts.

In retrospect, the cost of this (or any) piece of ur-
ban parkland seems unimportant compared to the
benefit derived from it by generations of humans
and wildlife. As the city’s first bird sanctuary,
Carpenter’s Woods has been a welcome haven for
neighbors, flora, and fauna for more than 100 years.
It is a place about which the poet Gerald Stern has
written, “This is a corner of heaven here.™ No poet
would have ever waxed eloquent about this wood-
land if the original city plan had been executed, and
the valley had become the site of yet another resl-
dential development — for the simple reason that
there would have been no woodland left to write
aboul.

One note about the stream’s informal name: while
it appears on David Schaaf's beautiful and infor-
mative 1993 map, “The Neighborhood of Mt Airy,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania,” no official city maps
ever identified this small stream. The only earlier
map to name the stream, calling it Kitchen Creek,
was created in 1913 by the City Parks Association
and first published in local newspapers. But that
name did not stick: when this map was reprinted in
an official city publication later that year the label on
this stream had been removed.” Naming unnamed

Figars 1, This map is bom a section of 3 1250 map by Devid Schaal, The
Masghbernood of Wi Ary, Erdadelhia, Permsyharia For the sk of clarky, hstorical
inlormaaton s bean deled.

tributaries would have made the same sense for the
City Parks Association in 1913 as it does for neigh-
bors of Carpenter’s Run today: it gives the stream
an identity, making it seem like the valuable ame-
nity it truly is. Humans, being verbal, find it much
easier to love something with a name; the unnamed

seems, by implication, unimpaortant.

The City Plan: The Under Si

Until the early 20th century, city engineers in
Philadelphia and elsewhere seemed intent on

* Gerald Stern, “In Carpenter’s Woods,” from Early Colleced Poems: 1965-1992 (New York: W. W. Norton, 2010}, 53-54.

' George M. Greene, “Map showing existing and proposed parks, parkways and playgrounds for northwestern section of
Philadelphia and proposed garden city revision at Lincoln Drive and Hartwell Avenue.” Map published with the stream name
tn "Germantown to have garden city,” Philadelphis Inquirer, by 27, 1913, and without the name in Arnual Reporf of fhe Buretis of
Swrneys of the City of Philadelphia for the year ending December 31, 1913 Philadelphia: 1914}, 13.
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wringing the maximum possible use out of every
piece of land, even if that meant radically reshap-
ing the landscape — culting down hills and filling
in low spots, putting streams in sewers to get them
out of the way of urban development and to provide
gravity drainage of both stormwater and sewage
for the new neighborhoods. Similar to the plan for
many other small stream valleys in the city, the one
drawn up for Carpenter’s Woods in 1885 called for
the unnamed Wissahickon tributary that flowed in
this valley to be put in a sewer under a winding Mt.
Fleasant Road, the woods to be cut down, the valley
filled over the pipe, streets cut through, and houses
built (Figure 2). Such an approach to open space,
whether woodland or farmland, certainly yielded
the city far more tax revenue than allowing the land
to remain in its natural state. Owners of built-up
land, divided into lots and densely packed with
buildings, paid a full tax rate - about double that
paid by owners of a similar acreage of undeveloped
or rural property, who were taxed at the farm rate.*

In the decades after the creation of the plan for Car-
penter’s Woods, as the land remained undeveloped,
the City Parks Association came to the rescue. By
the beginning of 20th century, the young organiza-
tion had already become a strong voice that worked
to shift the city’s narrow-minded and often short-
sighted view of open space. Rather than seeing land
as simply an economic respurce to be developed and
exploited for its potential tax revenue, the CPA en-
couraged the view that open space could have many
long-term benefits if, instead, it was acquired by the
city as parkland. Inits 1912 annual report, the CPA
insisted: “There is no more efficient way to increase
the health of the City than to increase the area of
its open-space system. Parks are fully as necessary
to the health of the people as are hospitals, Indeed
they are more 50, because they tend to put hospitals
out of business.™

Preserving streams that had not already been put
into underground sewers by adding their valleys to
the Fairmount Park system was a main focus of the
CPA’s work. The group’s lobbying resulted in the
creation of several watershed parks in the first de-
cades of the 20th century - in the valleys of Cobb's,
Pennypack, and Tacony creeks — and these larger
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Figuee 2 Thits 1555 plan sheows M1 Plaosant Avenos bull over B stiream (highlighiing
ke surving Prough Camponiers Woods. Under this scheme, e sream eoukd
cirem [aini QAR IR B S nder B sreet. City of Philadeiphia, Strests
Denpatimaend.

projects certainly helped ease the way for the City’s
acceptance of parkland in the smaller stream val-
5,
lf}h:-'lm of these smaller streams were not saved. The
CPA’s attempts to preserve the upper reaches of the
Wingohocking Creek, which ran through Mt Airy
and Germantown and was once a main tributary
of Frankford Creek, and the lower reach of Thomas
Run, a Cobb’s Creek tributary in West Philadelphia,
were both lost, and both now survive only as names
on the city’s sewer map. The group had better luck
preserving small streams in the Wissahickon wa-
tershed, an effort it considered as important as the
initial preservation in the 1860s of the larger valley
of which these tributaries were a part. By 1912, the
valley of Cresheim Creek and an area once known

' Edward P Allinson and Boles Penrose, Philadelpils 1681-1857: A history of municipal devefoprent (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins, 1867,
238, In 1885, the full lax rate was double that of the farm rate, $1.85 per $1,000 of assessed valuation versus $.0.92%, with an

intermediate subirban set at $1.23%4

* Tioenty-Fourth Ammual Report of The City Parks Association of Philadelphia ([Philadelphia), September 1, 1912), 20.
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as the Houston Ramble at the lower reach of Paper
Mill Run (now called Monoshone Creek) had al-
ready been preserved. However, as the CPA annual
report noted that year, “There are a number of other
valleys still to be acquired, and we earnestly urge
that they now be placed on the City Plan as exten-
sions of Fairmount Park.™ The valley of Carpenter’s
Run was one of these.

If municipal reports are any indication, the lobby-
ing of the CPA began to bear fruit in the changing
views of influential city officials. Wrote the city's
chief engineer and surveyor, George 5. Webster, in
his 1910 annual report: “In the vicinity of and within
the confines of the larger American cities the former
predigality in the abuse of streams is giving way o
conservation. The streams are being preempied for
parks or preserved for future water supplies (and)
the continuance of the practice of discharging sew-
age into them is forbidden . . . The condition of the
streams in this City in this respect is being materi-
ally improved each year.””

In the following report and others from the period,
the CPA amplified and underscored Webster's view:

If the city does mol now take these valleys, with
their rugged natural beauby, for the wse of the peo-
ple for all time, streets will soon have to be thrown
over them . . . This means that the City would
have to pay not only the increased cost of filling
for the streets, but it must alse pay the owners
of the abutting ground in the valleys for the cost
of bringing the enlire area up to the level of the
streefs. As has been demonstrated by Chief Web-
ster of the Bureau of Surveys, the cost of opening
the streets and of these changes of grade would
amoun! to far more than the cost of acquiring
the valleys for park purposes. This consideration
leaves out of sight allogether the beauty of the
runming streamis and wooded slopes, with which

b It 47,

the valteys are Wessed Wrroughont, This beauly
makes fts own appenl ®

To get a better appreciation for the amount of
work this filling entailed, one needs only to go to
the embankment that carries Greene Street through
Carpenter’'s Woods, and imagine how much materi-
al it would take to fill the depressions on either side
even halfway to the street level® Besides the cost
af filling the streets, by adding these valleys to the
park system the city could also avoid the expenses
of building sewers, water and gas lines, and other
infrastructure improvements that would have been
required if the land was to be developed as part of
the urban street system.

The Revised City Plan: Carpenter’s Woods Saved

The preservation of Carpenter’s Woods took shape
in four city ordinances over an eight year period.
The first, in 1912, authorized a “revision of the lines
of grades of a portion of City plan No. 214" bounded
by Greene Street, Carpenter Lane, Wissahickon Ave-
nue and Allens Lane. " A second, in 1913, extended
the revision to cover the area between Greene Street,
Mt Airy Avenue, McCallum Street and Ellet Street
(Figure 3)." In a brief report accompanying the
1913 ordinance, the City Council’s Committee on
Surveys stated that the purpose of these revisions
was “the preservation of the natural topographical
features and the incorporation of a portion of the
area into an extension of Fairmount Park.”” Car-
penter's Woods now covers about 37 acres, but this
first extension included only 21 acres, mostly from
the family of the late James 5. and Richard 5. Ma-
son and a small parcel from the estate of George W.
Carpenter (Figure 4). Either the City Parks Asso-
ciation or the surveys committee must have gained
assurances from these owners that their land would

" Anmwal Report of the Director of Public Works, and of the Cheief of tee Brursau of Surveys for yar ending Decrmber 31, 1910 (Philadielphia:

Dranlap Prinding Co., 1911), 48.
' CPA, 24th Annuaal Report, 4647,

" Thanks to Tony Aiello, » West ML Airy resident, for introducing us to this landscape anomaly and thus sowing the seeds for this

article.

" Ondimmmces of the City of Plifadelphia from [anary 1 to Decrmber 31, 1912 (Philadelphda: Dunlap Printing Co., 1913), 62-63. While
many maps and sources, including this one, refer to Carpenter Street, for consistency this has been changed in non-quoted

malerial o the current official name, Carpenter Lane,

W Owdimamces of the City of Philedefphia from femaary 1 do December 31, 1913 (Philadeiphia: Dunlap Printing Co., 1914), 406,
2 fournal of e Commmon Cowncil of the City of Philadelpiiia from Septemiber 18 to Decernber 30, 1913, vel, Il (Philadelphia: Dunlap Printing

Cin, 1913, A 104, 357,
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Figuen 1. The single M. Pisasand Foad shown on i 1635 plan in Figune 7 becomes,
in i revision, e somewshal ool Rors and Soglt ki Plaasant Fosds Bal now
on ether side of e valley. Vaymoe Sl mcas riginally planead 1o orss e waley,
Tt Bhis: i s reet bl il was ervniually semowed from the oficial ity plan.

[ream line: highlighting addad ) City of Philadeiphia, Simats Departmend.

be donated to the city rather than sold, because the

also stated, “It is not anticipated that any
damages will be claimed against the city by reason
of the revision.”"

In 1916, another ordinance set out the terms of
the land donations for this new park." In cash, it
cost the city virtually nothing, since the Carpenter
and Mason estates received only a dollar each for
thelr respective properties. Besides giving the city
land within the park boundaries, they also deeded
to the city another nineteen acres in long and nar-
row strips, from fifty to eighty feet wide — land that
would become the roads surrounding the park,
including portions of Mt Airy, Wayne and Wis-
sahickon Avenues, Sedgwick, Ellet and Sherman
Streets, and MNorth and South Mt Pleasant Roads.

by of Pheladelphia Frosi faruary 1 ke December 31, 1916 (Philadedp

Figere 4. This 1990 map of Carpaniers Woods and vicinly shows property owners 3
e e o Dy il B’ 1 B by Tty Caipsnior stales i rspressentesd by i
rushis, Sy L. VWright). Thee black cuin shows the park lnes: established by 1012
sl 1IN ety oedinances. The pray shading indicales: the curment exier] of Capeniors
Woads, aciended by land purchases authoried by City Coundl in 1596 aea 1530,
Aahiciin s of Prdiadidphin.

Property owners commonly claimed damage pay-
ments from the city when new streets were cut
through their properties, but in this case the owners
gave the land outright.

It would be a mistake, however, to assume that
these wealthy landowners were being completely
altruistic. Part of the agreement outlined in the or-
dinance stipulated that the city was to construct the
new streets in a timely manner, which would both
increase the value of the adjacent property held by
these estates and make it much easier to subdivide
and sell it as house lots.

An additional ordinance, in 1920, extended Car-
penter’s Woods to its current dimensions, a revision
that required rerouting and in some cases elimi-
nating sections of streets around and through the

g Co., 1917), 409-419,
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park.”® This time, however, nobody was giving any-
thing away. The Mason family sold more of its land,
and another parcel came from the estate of Margaret
McLean. The bulk of this new park section, almost
12 acres, came from real estate broker J. Morgan
Lister — whose asking price, more than $10,000 an
acre, might have been an accurate reflection of real
estabe values at the time but was an ongoing con-
troversy in bwo successive mayoral administrations.
Figure 5 shows both the original park donation and
the later extension.

While the ordinances and legal documents related
to this transfer of land to the city invariably refer
to it as an “extension of Falrmount Park,” for years
before these official transactions the area had been
known as Carpenter’s Woods, after the best known
of its previous landowners, George Washington
Carpenter. In one of several mentions of the place
in his diaries, Germantown resident Cornelius M.
Weygandt wrote that he “drove . . . through Car-
penters woods™ on August 11, 1888."* Newspapers
also referred to it by this name. In two articles from
1904, a coyote and a pair of burglars were reported
as escaping into Carpenter’s Woods.  In 1911, 800
local Boy Scouts pitched tents there for the first an-
nual field day of Philadelphia Council and, three
years later, 6800 Gird Scouts came to the woods for
their first field day. A 1913 article about a YWCA
picnic indicates that, although the property no lon-
ger belonged to the Carpenter family, the name for
the place had stuck: “a point in Carpenter’s Woods,
on the old Mason estate, at the end of Wayne Av-
enue in Germantown,""

Landowners in Carpenter’s Woods _

The previous owners of the land in Carpenter’s
Woods were identified with the assistance of a De-
pression-era inventory, created under the auspices
of the Works Progress Administration, of all real
and tangible property owned by the City of Phila-
delphia. Tt encompasses nineteen volumes and Is
now held by Philadelphia City Archives as Record

crem Bhell =

Figune 5. Carpenter’s Woods a5 delineaied by 2 1508 sureey of ity propsarty, when
Wy Mewrie Wk sl progecied bo cross T valley. Wow oy Garises) Sineed funl
acrms the upper and of the park. ity of Philadelphin, Depariment of Reconds, Gy
Akt F0G 68, Busesig of Gy Progaety.

Group 68.3. One five-page section of this invento-
ry. created in 1936, contained the names of all the
previous owners of the land in Carpenter’s Woods
along with a map (Figure 5) and a deed registry in-
cluding all the associated deeds (hereinafter cited as
WPA Inventory).

All of the property owners were wealthy German-
town people and, except for Carpenter, are little
known today except as names that appear here and
there on late nineteenth and early twentieth century
real estate maps. The following brief biographies
will bring them back into the limelight, if only for
a moment, and if only to identify the people whose

Ordirances of the City of Piviladeiphia From famuary 1 to December 31, 1920 (Philadelphia: Dunlap Printing Co., 1921), 2-24.

# Cornelius M.

t Papers, University Archives and Records Center, University of

" Mlclum[[mwm-&rphhlmm'Eqpmwﬂ[ﬂtﬁmh{thmmﬂdHllmdhhmﬂmnnu.m:-t
biroke its bounds,” March 9, 1904; “Policenan shot by busglas in a duel; Germantown bluecoat (rustrated attempl to rob
Carpenter Street residence,” October 24, 1904; "800 Boy Seouls hald feld day in Germanbown . Carpenter’s Woods full of tents,”
June 18, 1911; "Gid Scouls o work erlh'ImtJﬂ IEH YWCA picnic tmwnhmfnu. juru':ﬂ 1913 .
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Fipee i Geomge Washinglon Caponts. Fhidacksiofss il Nofadd
FPriadephions GHS.

common legacy, whether given freely or sold for
profit, is Carpenter’s Woods.

G‘EHE W. Caﬂht

Born in 16802 and raised in Germantown, George
W. Carpenter (Figure 6) was educated at German-
town Academy and, at age 18, “was initiated into
the mysteries of the drug business in the establish-
ment of Charles Marshall, Jr., where he accumulated
a small sum of money and a large capital of knowl-
edge.”™ In 1828 he went into business on his own,
manufacturing and selling drugs, eventually taking
on a partner and trading under the name of Carpen-
ter, Henszey & Co. By the end of his life, Carpenter
had amassed great wealth, holding deeds to over
500 acres and more than six hundred buildings
in Germantown and other areas. Certainly the
grandest of these buildings was the Greek Revival
mansion that he built for himself and his wife El-
len and named “FPhil-Ellena”™ in her honor (Figure

7). Carpenter helped create the local gas company
and the Germantown Water Company, and served

® ] Thomas Scharf and

" Sheryl Farber Mickelberg,
1992}, 15-16, 21-22.

®  “Dieaths,” Germamnbown Trlegraph, Jume 13, 18600

u:wn'l:'-mr

8 “Genrge Washinglon Carpenter, 1802-1650," Germaniown li lliaﬁ-]: B2, .

e

Figuen 7. Pril-Elona, GHS.

as a bank director and on the boards of several rail-
road companies. When the railroad that is now the
Chestnut Hill West line of SEPTA was opened in
1885, it had four stops on property of the Carpen-
ter estate - at Allens Lane, Carpenter, Upsal, and
Tulpehocken Streets = which certainly made the
land more desirable and valuable. In addition to
his business activities, Carpenter also had broad in-
terests in mineralogy, medicine, agriculture, botany
and geology, and he wrote numerous articles and
o textbook on medical subjects.™

Carpenter's large estale, one obituary sermonized,
was “accumulated by unremitted attention to busi-
ness, and especially in the judicious investment of
money in real estate, siocks, &c. He commenced
the world without a dollar not earned by his own
hands. His example should not be lost upon the
rising generation.”™ Another source, however, com-
ments that overwork was one of the contributing
causes of death, so perhaps the lessons provided by
his life are not quite so clear-cut.™

Carpenter was only 57 when he died in 1860; his
estate, however, had a longer life than its accu-
mulator, continuing on in various forms until the

Westcott, History of Priladdphin 16091884, Vol 3 (Philadelphda: L. H. Everts and Co., 1634), 273,
“A decorative analysis of Phil-Ellena, a Greek Revival mansion.” (Master's thesis, University of

Volume &2 Homber 2 Fall 2012



mid-1920s.% Ellen Carpenter lived in the house
named for her until it was torn down in 1893, when
a hundred acres of the Phil-Ellena grounds were
deeded to Edward ]. Stotesbury and Anthony J.
Drexel for one dollar. These two financial moguls
and other associates formed the Carpenter Land
and Improvement Company, which developed the
property into a new upscale residential commu-
nity called Pelham.* More than two decades later,
Sidney L. Wright, acting as trustee for the estate,
deeded less than a quarter of an acre to the City for
one dollar, for the extension of the wooded park
that memorializes the Carpenter name.™ Wright
was still the trustee in 1925, when the last two tracts
of the estate, totaling about ten acres, were sold for
£165,000 to developers who planned to build houses
worth $2 million on the property®

McLean

When Margaret MclLean died on December 4,
1914, at age 90, she was living “at her late resi-
dence,” on Cresheim Road above Carpenter Lane™
We found little other information about her. Some
people leave but the slightest traces of themselves
after death, and it is only through records related to
her brother, Hugh McLean, that we can assume to
know anything at all about Margaret McLean.

We assume that she was the unnamed sister who
co-owned a Germantown textile mill and adjoin-
ing property (Figure 8) with her younger brother
Hugh;” that, like Hugh, she emigrated to the Unit-
ed States from Scotland sometime in the mid-19th
century;® and that because of her surname at death,
she never married. We assume it was in her honor
that her brother and his wife named one of their two
daughters Margaret. Hugh McLean’s residence, at
the same address and probably the same house as
that in which Margaret died, is described as “pala-

Figpara 8. iy Glan Echa Wl b an 1530 Hesmmer sunapy, whaon it was owned by
“Hugh biclaan and sigler” 1 wes leased i the e of McCalem, Crease & Sioan, who
rn il a8 & carped Baciory. Frieg Library of Philadeiphia, Mag Colieclion.

tal™ in a newspaper account of a family wedding - a
not-so-humble affair attended by over 400 guests,
with the hallway alcove itself large enough to ac-
commodate Herzberg's Orchestra, which played the
wedding marches and reception music and accom-
panied the dancers from ten until midnight.™

The mill co-owned by the MclLean siblings was
situated on Carpenter Lane in Germantown, next to
Paper Mill Run, another Wissahickon Creek tribu-
tary just over the ridge to the east of Carpenter’s
Run (Figure 9). A mill had been located on that spot
as carly as 1812; it was taken over and expanded by
the McCallum family beginning in the 1830s. They
called it Glen Echo Mills for the echo in the glen in
which the buildings stood, and it quickly became one
of the largest carpet factories in the world. During
the Civil War, as demand for carpeting plummeted,
Glen Echo was retooled to meet the Unlon Army's
desperate need for wool blankets. The mill ran day
and night, with the raw material for the blankets
washed in water from Paper Mill Run. This pollut-
ed the stream so badly that downstiream property
owners got an injunction stopping the practice, after
which the waste water was disposed of “by pump-
ing it to the tops of the surrounding hills, into ponds

B *Lagt Carpenter Tract Sobd,” unnamed newspaper, 1925, Carpenter Family File, GHS.

H

(Fall 1986): 4.

¥

Philsdelphia Clty Archives.
“Last Carpenter Tract Sold.”
*[Death notice,” The Philadeiphia Inguirer, December 6, 1914,

WOH Wk

Lippincott, 1913), 116-117.

k]

Cermaniown Crier

For a Epndmn“hedmhpnmlnilﬂlm,ﬂ[ﬁjﬁmhhn; “Pelham: A residental enclave,” Germamipmn Crier, 38
Sydney L. Wright and Germantown Trust Company to Clity of Philadelphia, Jaraary 15, 1917, Deed Book [MH 111-363.

Thee unnamed sister is nobed in Ernest Hexamer, Glen Eche Mills (Hexamer General Sarveys, Wol. 16, 1880}, Flate 1513,
Historical catalogue of the St. Andrecs's Society of Philadelphie, with biograpical skeiches of decessed members, vol. 2 (Philadelphia: 1B,

“Two brilliant weddings,” The Prlladeiphis Imguirer, February 36, 1592
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ard over fields™ - not an ideal solution, and cer-
tainly not one that would pass muster with today's
stricker environmental standards,

Hugh McLean started as a salesman for the Me-
Callum company and sometime after the death of
William McCallum in 1875, the Glen Echo property
was s0ld to Hugh McLean and his sister, who also
purchased nearby plots of ground. In 1895, the old
Glen Echo Mills was torn down, with the smoke-
stack the last part to fall. A newspaper reported that
“a thousand or more people from different parts of
Germantown, Chestnut Hill, Mt. Airy, Roxborough
and the city proper assembled to see the stack de-
molished, and as it fell a big cheer was given by the
crowd.”™ The factory and thirty surrounding acres
had become too valuable to lie vacant, so Hugh
McLean {and we presume, his sister) transformed
the property into building lots. “Streets are being
cut through the grounds, and everything will be
done to make the property conform as near as pos-
sible to the new suburb of Pelham, which is directly
opposite, on the south side of Carpenter street. One
of the principal streets running through the prop-
erty will be a 1000-feet continuation of Lincoln
drive."® This winding road still follows the me-
anderings of Paper Mill Run, which ended up in a
sewer under the street. As the mill was being dis-
mantled, Hugh McLean came up with the “novel
idea of . . . laying of ten boilers taken from the old
mill in the bed of Paper Mill Run,” forming a dam
that diverted the stream from its course and into the
sewer on the other side of the street, allowing the
old stream bed to be more easily filled to the level of
the new streels.™

Hugh McLean died on July 15, 1897.% As part of
his legacy, two pleces of property passed to Margaret
McLean that eventually became part of Carpenter’s
Woods.® Her estate received $2,900 from the city
for 35,/100 of an acre.®
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Figuee . This 1380 map shaows, T locsiBion ol B Glen Echo Mils and the many
TG proparies ownad by Hugh and Magaret McLoan. Poper Ml Flan (now
Marsiha Crimgl] d gl Ba il Lincoin Ovivee s still 5 dolied b; avonholy i
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Mary Taylor Mason was born on January 15, 1871
in Philadelphia, the fifth of six children of Mary

= =Old Glen Echo Mills demolished to make room for building improvements,” unnamed newspaper, no date (ca. 1595), Jellett
Serapbook Collection, GHS. The 1895 date of this demolition is an extrapolation based on another newspaper article, also from

the Jelleti

¥

= Ihid.

" [hid.

“ H MeLean dead,” The Philadelphia Inguirer, fuly 16, 1897

» ]dlnﬂdlnhurprﬂhklﬂmﬁhwryﬁrlml Philadelphia City Archives,
. of Philad

Cetaber 19, 1921, Deed Book [MH 1159-518. WPA [rven

Sernpbooks, reminiscing about the demolition, dated May 1920 and titled “Twendy-five years ago this week.”
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T. Thomas and Richard
5. Mason; the first three
children died in infancy.
In 1878, she moved with
her family into a house
in  Germantown  they
called Cerné (Figure 10).%
Her father was heir to a
blacking (shoe polish)
manufactory started by
her grandfather, James 5.
Mason, located on Front
Street  in Philadelphia
from 1851 to 1919.% Af-
ter James Mason  died
in 1888, his son ran the
business,  accumulating
wealth but displaying it
in a modest sort of way.
When he died in 1912, an
obituary called Richard
Mason “a man of strong,
clear, and cultured mind, and of the most elevated
and generous personal character; just and immov-
able in his convictions . . . deeply, unostentatiously
Christian in his outlook on life and his conception
of duty. Of ample means, he gave largely and con-
tinuously to such charitable objects, both public and
private, as appealed to his judgment.”™

Mary Mason seemed to have inherited her fa-
ther's generosity and independence of mind. After
graduating from Bryn Mawr College in 1892 with
a bachelor's degree in history and political science,
she taught at Mrs. E. L. Head’s School in German-
town (where she had previously studied = or in
the vernacular of the time, been “prepared”). She
supported a variety of causes, including the Civic
Club, a progressive women's organization. She also
served on a sectional school board for three years
before joining the citywide Board of Education in
1899, representing the 38th Section in Germantown

— T
TN

»
g
I

Figarn 30 The: Maason family home, Cemé, wes on Schoofhouts Line neer Wissahickon Svanus. 1 is now part of an afistc
compes. cweed by Cermaniown Friends. Schocl Courlesy ol Jies Pepoksr

for the next ten years.® In a front-page story, The
Philadelphia Inguirer reported that she was only
the fourth female member in the history of the
Board: “The appointment gives general satisfac-
tion because of Miss Mason's eminent fitness for the
position . . . Since her graduation{she) has devoted
near all her time and energies to the cause of educa-
ton.™ In this devotion, she seemed to have put her
family’s money to good use, “going abroad largely
for the purpose of gaining a knowledge of foreign
educational systems. This study, together with her
practical experience on the Sectional Board of her
ward, will render her competent to acceptably fulfill
the duties of the more important position to which
she has been appﬁi.t‘ul‘ﬁd.""t

At age 40, Miss Mason (who never married) de-
cided to go to medical school, beginning at Johns
Hopkins University in 1911 and finishing her M.D.
at the Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania

¥ Jane Peppler, compiler, “Descendants of John Thomas,” acoessed August 7, 2012, <http:/ [ freepages. gencalogy.rootsweb.ancesiry,

com / ~peppler/ thomas html=.

= Advertisement photo and deseription, Library Compary of Philadelphia, cwww.flicker.com /photos /library-company-of -

philadelphia /4624354635, accessed July 9, 2012

* *Richard Servetus Mason Dead,” unnamed newspaper, June 6, 1912, Jane Campbell Scrapbook

Collection, GHS.

®  Brym Mawr College Caleridar: Register of Alummae and Former Students 1520 (Bryn Mawr, PA: Bryn Mawr College, 1920), 119.
i “Nfisg Mason appointed,” The Phriladdphi Irnguirer, March 7, 1899,

eyre Calerdar 1520, 119,
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Figearn 1, Thay 1515 prachualing class of B Woman's Medical Colege of Pernspbvania, now Drensl Lishersity Colege of
Mipdiciens. v, lelaesom ks i By Shird row, second lrom fhe el image couriesy Logacy Cenlor Anchives, Drexell Universily College (i) at Comdé, circa 1560, Courtesy of Jane

of Medicien. Photo (2470,

in 1915 (Figure 11). For two years after graduation
she was an “assistant demonstrator in obstetrics”
at the college. © A 1916 report about the Maternity
Department of the college lauded her readiness “to
investigate any case that shows a special need, thus
combining the duties of a social service worker with
those of a clinician.™ Her interest in the under-
privileged was not limited to her medical practice;
for many years she also served on the board of the
Philadelphia Housing Association, which advocat-
ed for better housing conditions for the city’s poor
population.*

In May of 1920, Mason walked 30 miles in two
days, from Germantown to New Hope, with her
friend Herbert Welsh, who called her “a practical
humanitarian, traveler, and experienced Tyrolean
pedestrian.”™® A few years later, on one of many
European excursions she took with her sister, Jane
Graham Mason, she scaled the Matterhorn. This in-

Figre 12 ary Tayior Mason jrighl) and ber sisler
Prspler.

terest in the outdoors, perhaps combined with her
philanthropic nature, may have encouraged her, as
lead trustee for the estate of her father and grand-
father, to arrange for the donation in 1916 of about
18 acres to the city, for Carpenter’s Woods, As part
of the later park extension, a second conveyance of
2.495 acres was made on behalf of the family, which
cost the city $14,970.00. ¢

In 1953, Life magazine featured “The Misses Ma-
son” - Mary and Jane (who also never married) on
the occasion of their 75th anniversary “At Home"™
at Cerné (Figure 12). When asked if they were hav-
ing any friends in to help celebrate the anniversary,
Mary Mason replied, “All our personal friends are
in the cemetery.” Their only disappointment came
after the party, when they discovered that none of
the 150 guests had left any calling cards on the sil-
ver platter provided for that purpose.® Jane Mason
joined their friends in the cemetery the following

®  Farty-First Anmal Meeting of the Alurmar Association of the Woman's Miadical College of Peransylosnda, June 1 and 2, 1916, (Philadelphia:

Publishid by the Association, 1916), 59.

]

Howusing Problemes in America: Proceedings of e Temify Mational Conference on Hosstng, Fhiladelphia January 28, 29, 30, 1929 {New Yiork:
Mational Housing Association, [1929]), 337; Housing, Yearbook 1939 (Chicago: Mationa

| Association of Housing Officials, 1939), 215,

%  Herbert Welsh, The New Gentlemsm of the Road (Philadelphia: Wm. F. Fell Co., 1921), 98. Mason only accompanied Welsh on the
first leg of the walk: his destination was his summer home in New Ha

- D|.-|:d._|-u|:||:|l:|-Ll;muhmjmmﬁ.h'lm]n.dw&m%lﬁrlmfﬁﬁm}ﬂicurﬁmﬁh‘ﬂb Mary Taylor Mason
et al. to the City of Philadelphia, October 24, 1917, Deed Book [MH 294-292 (WEA Irventory]; |. Clawde Bedfosd, Master in
Farﬂﬂmcmmdtmnmi’lmﬁlmA.pnllﬁ:.19I1mﬂqﬂmﬂmqﬂdmm9,lﬂ?,[hedm1MHﬁ?+ﬂﬁmm

Inwentoryl.
" “ife foa TSth annd

Crermmaniown Crier

‘At Home": The Misses Mason Have a Pestive Day,”

, Oictober 26, 1953, 186-H7.
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spring, and Mary Mason lived on alone at Cerné
until her death on August 13, 1957,

| B Mnrﬁm Lister

J. Morgan Lister was a well-known real-estate
agent and property owner in Germantown whose
father, Benjamin B. Lister, had one of the largest
rent-collecting lists in Philadelphia. In 1917, the
younger Lister bought some adjoining parcels from
the Carpenter and McLean estates in the vicinity
of Sedgwick Street, Carpenter Lane, and Wayne
and Wissahickon Avenues.®® The properties cov-
ered about 23 acres and were valued, according to
a contemporary news article, at fifteen to twenty
thousand dollars an acre™  Lister offered to sell
about half of the property = 11.73 acres, to be exact
- to the Fairmount Park Commission for an exten-
sion of Carpenter's Woods. He was eventually paid
$121,971.13 for the land, but not before the trans-
action caused a political uproar and brought into
question the right of the Commission to make such
purchases,”

Besides the high price, part of the objection was
that the Park Commission only had about 551,000
on hand at the time, not enough to buy the property
outright, and had committed the city to a mort-
gage to pay for the remainder. Complained Mayor
Thomas B. Smith at a meeting of the Park Commis-
sion in 1919, “If the city is not in a position to pay
for lands outright, it ought not to make payments
under any system involving the payment of inter-
est on its purchases.”™ In a statement that might
be echoed in many present-day hearings aboult the
city’s parks, the Mayor added, “The city is not ready
to buy any more property for its parks . . . We have
a great number of small properties, and lack money
to put them in order.™ Al this meeting the Park
Commission agreed not to purchase any more land

73

on mortgages, but still insisted that the Lister pur-
chase be allowed to stand.

The next mayor, |. Hampton Moore, took the battle
to the courts in 1921. He not only thought the price
for Lister's land was excessive, but also insisted that
it was unneeded, as there was other parkland in
that vicinity. “A mile away children played on an
ash dump,” Moare said. “Inquiry showed that this
plot of ground cost $121,000, and we could not get
$15,000 for a playground to save the health of those
children."™ He also questioned the constitutional-
ity of the Park Commission to act in these matters
without the approval of City Council.

During the court hearing of the city’s suit to block
the sale, Colonel Sheldon Fotter, representing Lister,
argued that the sale was proper and that the “com-
mission took the land because it wants to preserve
the watershed from contamination.” City officials
insisted that the cost was “grossly excessive,” and
noted that the price the city was being asked to pay
for the 11.73 acres of parkland was 525,000 more
than Lister had paid when he bought the entire 23-
acre tract.®

In a behind-the-scenes plea less than two weeks
after this case was heard, Lister penned a note on
Union League stationery to Eli Kirk Price, a Park
Commission member who served on the Land Pur-
chases & Damages Committee: “Can you not see
your way to help this sale through as it would be
of great help & there would be great satisfaction in
demonstrating that the sale at $10,000 per acre to
the Park was not highway robbery.™ In the end,
the Court upheld the authority of the Fark Com-
mission to purchase the land, alse turning down
a taxpayer’s lawsuit against the sale that was filed
the following year. Lister got his money, the city
got the land, the neighbors got a priceless park that
they have cherished for all the decades since, and
the controversy was quickly forgotten.

" Edward L. Fiss & Walter T, Lee Exes. of Will of Margaret MeLean dec. Lot 10 June 17, 1918; Sydney L. Wright and Germaniown
Trust Co. Trustees, Four Deeds for Lots 4 & 6, Lot 5, another portion of Lot 6, and Lot B, all dated June 17, 1917, Philadelphia

City Archives,

®  “Carpenter's Woods in Park,” unnamed newspaper, July 10, 1919, Jane Campbell Scrapbooks, GHS.

*  Fora broader perspective on the power struggle between the City government and the Falrmount Park Commission in the first
decades of the twentieth century, see Robert P, Armstrong, “Green space in the gritty city: the planning and development of
Philadelphia’s park system™ (PhDD dissertation.. Lehigh University, 2002), chapter 5.

Ihid.

RN

A6, Philade] City Archives.
Caermandown Crier

"City discontinues purchase of parks,” The Priladelphie Irguirer, July 10, 1919,

“Mandamus system handicap to clty, Mayor declares,” The Phifadelphis lnquirer, March 18, 1920,
“Park extension cawses a suil,” unnamed newspaper, probably November 23 or 24, 1920, Carpenter Family File, GHS.
. Morgan Lister to Eli Kirk Price, December 2, 1920, Fairmount Park Commission Land Titles, Carpenter’s Woods folder, Box
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Epilogue: For the Birds -

Carpenter’s Woods became the city's first official
bird sanctuary in 1921, due mainly to the lobbying
by the students and faculty of the nearby Charles W.
Henry School at Carpenter Lane and Greene Street.
While vacationing in Meriden, New Hampshire in
1920, Caroline T. Moffet and Edith Scott, the prin-
cipal and a teacher at the school, were inspired by
a visit to a bird sanctuary there, one of the first in
the country. On their return to Philadelphia, they
became missionaries for bird conservation. They
incorporated the study of birds inlo various parts
of the Henry School curriculum, teaching the value
of birds in civics class, building bird houses and
feeders in manual training class (Figure 13). Stu-
dents heard guest lectures about birds, and visited
the Academy of Matural Sciences to see its exten-
sive ornithology collection. The culmination of this
effort was the Bird Masque (Figure 14), a grand pag-
eant performed in Carpenter’s Woods by hundreds
of students, based on the playbook that had been
written for the 1913 dedication of the New Hamp-
shire bird sanctuary that had so inspired the two
educators.” Preparation for this event involved the
teachers from the art and sewing departments in
creating the costumes, and others from the physical
education department in choreographing the danc-
ers. A friend of the school provided the music, and
the result was a neighborhood hit that ran for many
years.™

“Merry music and graceful, dancing children
in radiant-hued costumes filled Carpenter’s Woods
. . . yesterday, as the children of Charles W. Henry
School gave a Bird Masque,” reported The Philadel-
phia Bulletin about the May 21, 1921, performance.
The article continued:

In the midst of a natural amphitheatre, beside
a clear-running brook, the children acted their
parts, while the hillsides to the right and left were
crowded with thousands of parents who formed the
audience. No scene could have been miore effective
to bring oul the moval of the masque, which was to

Percy
“Philadelphia’

Ed ey

Figury 13 Hanry School shudonts displaying acoeplible ypes of bisd-houses:.
Bechive, Agrl, 1506 GRS

teach the love of birds, The woods is @ bind sanc-
tuary, and in il are many specinmens. The birds
seemed fo know they were protected, for they flew
about heedless of the throngs of visitors.™

As important as these annual performances were
to all the students who performed in them, Mof-
fett's work had an effect that carried far bevond the
schoolyard. Two years after authorizing the bird
sanctuary, the Fairmount Park Commission voted to
renovate two old buildings in Carpenter’s Woods.
One served as a caretaker’s cottage, and became
home for Miss Moffett; the other was converted
into a bird museum and the headquarters of the
newly-constituted Fairmount Park Bird Club. This
organization soon after changed its name to the Wis-
sahickon Bird Club, and in 1945, the birders merged
with the Friends of the Wissahickon, founded in
1924 with a mission “to preserve the natural beauty
and wildness of the Wissahickon Valley and stimu-
late public interest therein.”™ Carpenter’s Woods
itself, while part of the Wissahickon Valley Park,
now has its own advocacy group, The Friends of
Carpenter’s Woods, whose brochures still trumpet
the importance of this section of parkland to local
bird life.™

Mackaye, Sanctinane A Bind Masque. MNew York: Frederick A, Stokes Co, 1913, p. .

s first bird sanctuary,” The Beshioe, Germantom, P, 4 (April 19231

The Philadelpiia Birlletin article, quobed in “Philadeliphia’s first bird sanctuary,” The Beeftve, Germuantosm, P, 4 (April 19231
“The Wissahickon Wilderness: Will it Survive?,” Chestmo Hill Local, August 11, 1577,

Stephen K. Lawrence and Keith Russell, “The Birds of Carpenter's Woods: Philadelphia’s First Bird Sanctuary.” Online

publication, no date, sccessed July 11, 2012, <hitp:S S www.foow.orgs.
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